Commission on Security & Cooperation in Europe: (U.S. Helsinki Commission) Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission

"The International Tribunal and Beyond: Pursuing Justice for Atrocities in the Western Balkans"

Commission Members Present: Representative Randy Hultgren (R-IL) Representative Eliot L. Engel (D-NY)

Commission Staff Present:

Robert Hand, Policy Advisor, Commission for Security and Cooperation in Europe

Participants:

Serge Brammertz, Chief Prosecutor, International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia;

Nemanja Stjepanovic, Humanitarian Law Fund (Via videoconference); Diane Orentlicher, Professor of Law, Washington College of Law, American University

The Briefing Was Held From 10:07 a.m. To 11:52 a.m. in Room 2255, Rayburn House Office Building, Washington, D.C., Robert Hand, Policy Advisor, Commission for Security and Cooperation in Europe, presiding

Date: Tuesday, December 12, 2017

Transcript By Superior Transcriptions LLC www.superiortranscriptions.com HAND: OK, I think it's time for us to begin our briefing this morning. We may be joined in a few minutes by Representative Randy Hultgren of Illinois and also Representative Eliot Engel of New York. My name is Robert Hand. I'm a policy adviser at the Commission on Security and Cooperation in Europe, better known as the U.S. Helsinki Commission, and I'd like to welcome you to this joint briefing of the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission and the U.S. Helsinki Commission. Both commissions and their members are dedicated to ensuring that human rights and democracy are integrated elements of U.S. foreign policy.

The Tom Lantos Commission is co-chaired by Mr. Hultgren, as well as Representative Jim McGovern of Massachusetts, while the Helsinki Commission is chaired by Senator Roger Wicker of Mississippi and Representative Chris Smith of New Jersey.

Today's briefing has been organized in light of the closing of the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia, better known as ICTY, which has sought to hold individuals accountable for serious violations of international humanitarian law, including war crimes, crimes against humanity and genocide.

The conclusion of the international tribunal's work, much of it unprecedented since World War II, obviously means time for an assessment. It is also time to take note of the issues regarding justice which remain in the Western Balkans and to shift our focus from the international efforts to the national level or efforts by the countries of the region to deal with the outstanding cases that remain.

As the moderator, I will turn to each of today's panelists to provide that assessment and to describe the shift of focus from their perspectives. Given my own three decades of experience as a policy adviser at the Helsinki Commission following the Western Balkans - before, during and since the Yugoslav conflicts of the 1990s - let me instead just briefly describe some of the challenges as I saw them along the way, from the beginning to today.

While there was widespread concern and even outrage over events in the second half of 1991 and early 1992, that early period was frankly dominated by a lot of wishful thinking about negotiating a quick end to the fighting. It was really not until the summer of 1992, with the revelation of Serb-run camps in northwestern Bosnia, such as Keraterm, Omarska, and Trnopolje, and other, associated atrocities, when policymakers realized that the horrific nature of what would be an ongoing series of Yugoslav conflicts necessitated a response of its own.

It was at that time that efforts leading to the creation of a tribunal began in earnest, with considerable support from government officials, certainly from Members of Congress, and also from the broader human-rights community. Once formed in May 1993, the challenge turned to taking the tribunal's goals seriously, especially while the conflict was still taking place. International negotiations with those responsible for criminal acts created concern that impunity would be traded for peace, as numerous other compromises were being made to end conflict.

By the time the conflict erupted in Kosovo in the late 1990s, however, it became increasingly evident that such deals would not lead to the long-term stability the region really needed. Therefore, justice would be pursued.

The next challenge, therefore, was implementation, by which I mean arresting or capturing and transferring to The Hague those individuals indicted by the international tribunal. The initial focus was focused on the need to convince NATO-led peacekeepers, who considered their main task to be to prevent new hostilities, to help capture at-large indictees. Over time they did.

Attention then turned to the responsibility of the governments of the Western Balkan countries themselves to locate, arrest and transfer. While some did cooperate, others hesitated or resisted. And it was not until 2011, when Serbia apprehended and transferred Ratko Mladic in May and Goran Hadzic in July, that all those indicted by ICTY finally found themselves in The Hague.

Meanwhile, there was the ongoing work of the tribunal itself; 161 indictments, I believe, overall led to more than 10,000 trial days that included more than 4,500 witnesses, all of which needed to be handled properly, according to the rules of procedure. Witnesses to crimes needed to be found and assisted in order to make their testimony possible, which was a tremendous undertaking. Those convicted, which were a majority of those indicted, needed a place to serve their sentences.

And this is just the obvious. To somebody who isn't a lawyer, hasn't worked in a tribunal, I'm sure that underneath that there's a whole host of other things that needed to be done. It was truly a great logistical undertaking.

Finally, as the workload increased, capacity became a challenge, given the numbers of crimes committed. The international tribunal was created in part because the countries of the region lacked the capacity themselves to hold individuals accountable for the egregious crimes we remember today. But the countries still needed to develop a capacity by forming special chambers of their judicial systems, with international urging and assistance. Doing so would not only help complete the effort, but bring justice closer to where the crimes were actually committed and hopefully have more impact. This, of course, was also easier said than done. But the alternative is no justice in some important cases.

That brings us to today. I point out these past challenges because we often think that we inevitably end up as originally planned, and we fail to consider the incredible commitment and decisive moments that steer events to our current reality and not to some other. We need not only to look at the outcome we reached, but also understand how we reached that outcome in order to move forward from here.

And in short, I think that we cannot take justice for granted today and assume it will be served. And certainly we cannot conclude that ICTY's closing means the pursuit of justice has been completed.

Now, to help provide an assessment of where we are at this turning point in the pursuit of justice, we first have the international tribunal's current chief prosecutor—the fourth, I believe, in the history of the court—Serge Brammertz of Belgium. There is probably nobody right now

more qualified to speak on today's topic than he. We are truly honored to have him here with us at this important time.

We will then hear from Nemanja Stjepanovic, who is up on the screen to my right, to the audience's left, who is a member of the team of the Humanitarian Law Center in Belgrade. The center, under the early leadership of Natasa Kandic, has done incredible work to document atrocities and report on them in a serious and professional way—and with some risk, I would add—leading to concrete action.

It is very promising to see a new generation of human-rights advocates in Belgrade carrying on this work that is so vital.

Nemanja, we look forward to hearing your views as well.

Finally, we have Diane Orentlicher, a professor of law at the Washington College of Law at American University, who has long studied the work of the tribunal and its impact on the countries in the region. She has participated in hearings and briefings of both the Helsinki Commission and the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission in the past, and we are glad to have her back today for her assessment.

The biographies of all of our panelists have been made available. So I will turn to each in turn for short remarks, followed by a question-and-answer period. I hope that members of the audience who come to the microphone will identify themselves and ask short, clear questions. And I should mention that the comments of some of our speakers may be officially constrained by other unresolved issues regarding the Western Balkans, such as recognition of Kosovo statehood or the name Macedonia. We're under different constraints, and so we may refer to these things in different ways. Until those issues are resolved, I prefer to acknowledge them here, up front and at the beginning, so that we can have a productive discussion of the central issue of the briefing, with an understanding of differing institutional positions.

So with that, let me turn to Dr. Brammertz for his remarks. If the Members of Congress come in, depending on where you are, I may interrupt or I may just wait until you're finished with your remarks before turning to the Members.

Dr. Brammertz.

BRAMMERTZ: Good morning, everyone, excellency; nice to see all of you. Thank you very much for inviting me to give a short briefing on where we are after 24 years of judicial activities in The Hague, what is the current situation, and what do we think will be the challenges for the future.

We have all seen, over the last two, three weeks, the events in The Hague, with the Mladic judgment being one of the most important in the history of the tribunal; Praljak's judgment, with everything coming with it, as you have seen. The irony was that this case got 100 times more attention in the media than we would have expected, given all the attention to the

crimes of those individuals who were convicted for many other thousand victims, which, you know, are perhaps a little bit underreported compared to crimes committed by others.

With last week our closing ceremony at the Security Council last session there, after 24 years of existence, and we, you know, while accepting that of course everything can be better – everything can always be better – we really think that the tribunal had credible results. This was very much the conclusion of almost all members of the Security Council, making it clear that it was very much mission accomplished. And when we speak with the member Security Council in the '90s, when the tribunal was set up, if people back then would have known that at the end of the day 161 individuals would have been indicted, I think they would have even signed more easily.

So I think that the results are critical. You mentioned already 161 indictments, more than 90 convictions, more than 15 acquittals. It's also important that in a court of law it's not automatic that there are convictions; a few acquittals, which we were very unhappy with, others which were the result of, you know, witness interference or not sufficient evidence, but that's how it is; no fugitives at large, which I think is very, very important result in the sense that we are today the only international tribunal with no fugitives at large.

I remember very well, when I had the privilege of being appointed by Security Council 10 years ago in my current function, there was a lot of pessimism about any chance of having one day Karadzic and Mladic arrested. And meeting with Bosnian victims' organizations 30 times over those 10 years, this has always been the number one request: We want and we need to see Karadzic and Mladic convicted in order to move forward. And today both are convicted, which I think is an important result.

But, of course, it's not only about figures and statistics. We all know that behind all those cases are many victims who lost their lives and many survivors, who for many they still don't know where their loved ones are. So the issue of missing persons is something we are still trying to put high on the agenda, because for many, many families to move forward, as long as they don't know where their loved ones are, it's very difficult.

I don't have to speak about the crimes. Many of you are from the region. You know all the atrocities which have been committed. The ethnic-cleansing campaigns in Croatia and Kosovo, but of course in Bosnia-Herzegovina, with the shelling and sniping of the city of Sarajevo. And, you know, I have still always on my desk a book I get from – I got from the association of parents of killed children during the siege of Sarajevo, more than pictures of the 1,500 children.

And every time I have visitors mentioning that, you know, this is a conflict which is 25 years old, it's time to move forward, well, I like feeling – having people feeling a little bit embarrassed by showing these photos; say, look, those are not issues of yesterday. This is still in the center of the life of people today; all this to say that it is very, very much present still in the minds of many, many people.

And what I wanted to do today is we need to speak about three of our lessons learned, three key reflections. Just three elements which I would say are important in our experience and in terms of lessons learned.

First one, cooperation. You know, having been a prosecutor, prosecutor general in Belgium for 15 years, it's relatively easy to work in a quite secure environment. You have the support by everyone. You work in the national context. Almost 100 percent of your work is conducting investigations abroad. So you really very much rely on cooperation.

Cooperation together mandate, which is something you mentioned already, how important it was that the number of European capitals, but also very much Washington at that time, was pushing very hard to make sure that the Security Council took the political decision to set up a tribunal. We all know that all international accountability mechanisms are always the result of a political decision. And we all know that, you know, today it is quite much more difficult than in the '90s, at the end of the day, to get a consensus at the international level to put accountability mechanism in place.

So the early '90s, I think, was really, from a political consensus and a political willingness, to fight impunity, I think an extremely important moment where your country and many others played an important role.

But cooperation has been and the support for cooperation has really been in the center of our work for many years, because my predecessors had extremely – had many difficulties during a number of years to access military archives, to access witnesses, to access documents in general. And the arrest of fugitives, as I mentioned already, has been a big, big challenge since the beginning.

And we got from many administrations – in fact, all administrations since the creation of the tribunal – a lot of support in order to be successful. And we have really learned that all conditionality policies were, at the end of the day, the most efficient tool to nicely but surely force countries in the region to cooperate.

You remember all very well that in relation to the arrest of Milosevic, it was very much on American pressure. It was the day before the U.S. was organizing a donor conference that finally he was surrendered to The Hague. So it was obviously extremely important support at that time.

Since I took over office, it is obvious that the conditionality policy put in place by the European Union has really been instrumental linking the EU enlargement process directly with a full cooperation with our office. So every six months we were preparing reports to the Security Council, but also I had a number of meetings with the European Council of Ministers.

And based on our assessment, while our job was, of course, not to say who should or shouldn't move to the next level in EU enlargement, we were very pleased to see that politicians, governments, were taking our reports into consideration for not moving to the next level. And personally, I'm absolutely convinced if there would not have been the international support by

the U.S., by the European Union and others, we would not have had a judgment, a life sentence for General Mladic, two years in court. I really want to be clear on this point.

And the lesson learned is here very, very clear. International justice, international tribunals, accountability mechanisms, can only be successful if there is a clear political support and if the political agenda is going in the same direction, you can be successful. And it is definitely one of the lessons learned at our tribunal.

Second element – and, of course, I could speak hours about the legal legacy. As the first tribunal after Nuremberg, it is obvious that the experiences we had, the way we were working, the structure put in place, it was very much also the basis for the creation of many other tribunals – the Rwanda tribunal, Sierra Leone, Cambodia, Lebanon – and also for the International Criminal Court, which has taken over a number of practices we have used.

Jurisprudence. Of course, jurisprudence is extremely large and is used in many countries around the world in relation to command responsibility, in relation to the law on genocide. But one area I really would like to say a little bit more about is conflict-related sexual violence, where, by the way, we had a big conference on in Sarajevo very recently, a few months ago, where we had the opportunity to show the Bosnian version of a book we wrote together with a number of colleagues on all our experiences over 25 years of prosecution of conflict-related sexual violence, where in the early days, in our early cases, we had relatively little success in getting commanders convicted for crimes committed by their soldiers in relation to sexual violence. Why? Because sexual violence was considered as not being linked to the conflict. It was considered as opportunistic and not as a weapon of war.

Later on our jurisprudence, which was much more clear in accepting sexual violence as torture, accepting sexual violence as enslavement, and convicting a number of commanders for the sexual violence committed by their soldiers because they considered those crimes as being foreseeable, this is very important jurisprudence I wanted to mention, which, as I said, we collected – translated already in the languages of the region that which will be a very important tool for training in the future.

And the third point I wanted to make is what we have learned, that to be successful and to really have impact in terms of looking for accountability, you need, when possible and where possible, an integrated approach between the international level and the national level. You know, the ICTY was put in place as the tribunal with primacy over national jurisdiction. So it has always been the rule that, you know, the ICTY could take whatever cases we wanted to take from the region if we thought that our jurisdiction was triggered.

And it was only after 2004 when the Security Council decided about the completion strategy that we had to transfer as many cases as possible to the region and should only keep the most important ones. And this has somehow forced us to start working much more intensively with the colleagues in the region. And the results today are really very much visible in Bosnia-Herzegovina, but also in Croatia and in Serbia, despite many problems.

For example, we have more than 9 million pages of documents in relation to the conflict. And we organized remote access for prosecution offices in the region to access our not confidential part of the databases. We put in place over the last 10 years, with the financial support of the European Commission, liaison prosecutors.

So I have, for the last 10 years, a Bosnian, a Serbian and a Croatian prosecutor physically in our office, having access to our databases, and using those information in the region. And we have really seen that this is a very efficient way of working. It is reducing the famous impunity gap we are always speaking about, that if you have an international accountability mechanism, international tribunal, which is only dealing with five, six, 10 accused, and the thousands of perpetrators which are on the ground, which are much more visible for the victim's community, are not prosecuted, I think you have a major problem.

And having been in Sarajevo a few weeks ago, there are still 3,000 cases ongoing in relation to crimes committed in Bosnia-Herzegovina, which makes it obvious that if we want to have impact, we need an integrated approach. I mentioned already that we had 161 indictments at our tribunal. It is a lot. It is, in fact, more than all other tribunals together. But it's very little if we look at the number of crimes which have been committed.

So in conclusion, well, what will happen, what is the future? Is it over with the closure of the ICTY? Of course not. If the ICTY is closed, if the Security Council took this decision, it is not because the work is over but because the Security Council is of the opinion that one should not trust more than in the past national jurisdictions to do their work. It will be a difficult challenge. I have to say that the quality of cooperation among countries in the former Yugoslavia went backwards over the last few years. This is a reality we have seen.

You have seen all the comments over the last weeks by, I think, irresponsible politicians glorifying the war criminals. And it's always trying, as a number of the accused have tried in the courtroom, to paint the picture of, well, our people and our country is at trial, where we, of course, always insisted on the individual criminal responsibility. We are prosecuting individuals for their crimes and for their crimes alone, and are never prosecuting countries and people. But we have seen over the last weeks that we are far from achieving reconciliation in this regard, and that many politicians unfortunately are playing a negative role in this regard. But I'm personally absolutely convinced that, without all the work of the ICTY has done and without the work national prosecutors are doing, so without accountability there would be no chance of seeing reconciliation being successful one day.

So the work we are doing – and my colleagues are doing the region – is not sufficient to achieve reconciliation, but I think it is really an important starting point. And very pleased to see our friends from the civil society world – you know, all those are – they're an exceptionally important work, and I really want to use this opportunity to ask for your support, of course, for prosecutors in the region because there is a lot of work still to be done, but also for civil society because it is much more difficult job than the job we are doing with the mandate of the Security Council because if you have, you know, to work in a society where the political leadership, where large part of the populations is not supporting you, I think it is extremely difficult and

even more important to do the work Natasa Kandic with the organization and many others are doing.

You know, as a kind of anecdote, I saw today in the media, you saw perhaps that there was again a big event in support of the Croatian convicted war criminals in Zagreb yesterday, so we've a lot of, you know, music and speeches and considering all individuals as heroes, but there was one organization, one NGO calling for a kind of work in support of the victims of the crimes committed by those individuals, so only one small NGO having the courage to take these kind of steps, so I very often believe more in the new generation than in a number of individuals who are today in power.

So I thank you very much for your attention, for your support, and of course I'm happy to answer all questions you may have.

Thank you.

HAND: Thank you very much, Dr. Brammertz.

Before we turn to the Humanitarian Law Center, let me first give the floor to Representative Randy Hultgren of Illinois, who, as I mentioned earlier, is co-chair of the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission. He's also one of my bosses being a member of the U.S. Helsinki Commission, and we've worked together in the past on a variety of issues. And it's great having you here, sir. The floor is yours.

HULTGREN: Thank you, Bob. Thank you to our panelists. I appreciate all of you being here, and welcome to this joint hearing between the Helsinki Commission and the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission. It's important for us to have this briefing on the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia and the state of accountability for atrocities committed during the 1990s Balkan Wars.

I'd like to thank again our panelists for coming here today and joining us via technology, and really appreciate their willingness to share their expertise and help us understand more what has happened, but also what we can do.

While many date the Balkan Wars to the succession of Slovenia and Croatia from Yugoslavia in 1991, it's worth noting that the late 1980s, Slobodan Milosevic, at the time the president of the Serbian Republic within Yugoslavia, used demagoguery against the Albanian population in Kosovo to his own political ends, the beginnings of the ethnic and nationalistic extremism that would soon violently flare up throughout the region.

Tom Lantos, the namesake for the commission that I have the privilege of co-chairing, was one of the first members of Congress to draw attention to the plight of the Kosovar Albanians in the 1980s, as was Senator Bob Dole.

The Balkan War started in Croatia and spread to engulf Bosnia and eventually Kosovo. Some saw the complexities of Balkan ethnic groups, warring factions and history, and, feeling

overwhelmed, decided to cry "a pox on all their houses" and avoid U.S. attempts to stop the conflict. This certainly seemed an easier path than to attempt to seek a meaningful investigation into the atrocities and ensure that at least the worst perpetrators would face trial and their victims find justice.

But Tom Lantos, Bob Dole and others, including my Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission colleague, Eliot Engel, continued to draw attention to atrocities committed in these wars and demand justice. Because of the work of those – these men and women and others, members of Congress from both parties, have closely followed the actions and efforts of ICTY since its founding in 1993.

It's also why I, as co-chair, McGovern and Representative Engel and others are co-sponsors of a bill introduced Representative Virginia Foxx: H.R. 3851, the War Crimes Rewards Expansion Act, which would provide for rewards for the arrests or conviction of certain foreign nationals who have committed genocide or war crimes, even if those arrested are tried in national courts rather than in international tribunals.

The ICTY isn't perfect, but it remains a model with lessons to teach. As Tom Lantos remarked during the 10-year commemoration of the massacre at Srebrenica, "it is essential that we recommit ourselves to see justice for the victims, well-deserved punishment for the perpetrators, and commit ourselves to take all possible action to ensure and assure that such atrocities do not again occur in Bosnia, or in Rwanda, or in Darfur, or indeed, any place on this small planet."

Again, I want to thank our panelists. I thank my colleagues for their important work on this, and I look forward to hearing what our panelists have to say and figuring out, again, next steps for us.

So thank you so much, and I yield back.

HAND: Thank you, sir.

We'll now turn to Nemanja Stjepanovic in Belgrade, with the Humanitarian Law Center.

HULTGREN: Can I say something?

HAND: Sure.

HULTGREN: I do want to say something really quickly. I do apologize – obviously there are a lot of things happening on the Hill today, but we have a markup, so I would love to be here. I've got a markup in Financial Services right now, so I do have to excuse myself. But again, thank you so much, and we'll certainly be monitoring this and watching this. But I have to go back.

HAND: OK.

HULTGREN: Thank you.

HAND: Thank you.

So we'll go to Nemanja now. You can hear us OK?

STJEPANOVIC: Yes. Can you hear me?

HAND: Yes, you sound pretty good.

If I could ask those in the audience who might be using the house Wi-Fi if maybe they could turn it off on their phones or while he is speaking. It might improve the reception, especially as we go to his presentation and then the question and the answer period.

So the floor is yours, Nemanja, and let me say that I think the Helsinki Commission and the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission both share the spirit of Dr. Brammertz's comments about the brave work of various people in civil society in the countries of the region. You are making a big difference, and you have our support. We can only hope that if we were in the same situation you were we would be doing the same thing, and you are inspiring and have our admiration.

But the floor is yours.

STJEPANOVIC: Thank you very much, and thank you for your words. Thank you for recognizing our work as something important, and thank you for the opportunity to address today during this briefing.

More than 20 years since the wars in Croatia and Bosnia, and almost 20 years after the conflict in Kosovo, the region is not just far from reconciliation, but in recent years – and we heard something about that already – there has been a notable regression. Politicians both in Serbia and in the region – and when I say Serbia you can also read Croatia, especially Croatia but also the others – so politicians claim that the work of the ICTY did not contribute to reconciliation. And at same time, the same politicians are refusing to accept the evidence and conclusions of the court which could lead to reconciliation.

The current Serbian leadership openly rejects discussion of the accomplishments of the ICTY, calling them, quote, "biased." And we heard the situation – literally from day to day we heard the same. And yesterday, our prime minister, Ana Brnabic, she said again that court was biased, and they are arguing that it was only prosecuting Serbs.

The true reason for such an approach lies in refusing to accept the role of political leadership of Serbia, and also in Croatia, Bosnia, and in Kosovo. For the same reason, war crimes trials in Serbia have never fully come to life, and now have further slowed down. Basically, they are extinguished.

In the last three years, the Serbian war crimes prosecutor office issued only eight indictments. So in three years we have only eight indictments. And in - only in 2011 we had, for example, 15 indictments, all in that one year. We don't have a single indictment for almost four years for the war crimes committed against Kosovo Albanians.

Since the beginning of the war crimes trials, the Serbian war crimes prosecutor has never accused – and that is probably the biggest problem – never accused the high-ranking military or police officer or high political officials in Serbia of Serbian ethnicity. The prosecution's targets are almost exclusively direct perpetrators of crimes, and from the indictments and judgments it is not possible to see their relationship with the state.

The Humanitarian Law Center has been pointing for years to the responsibility of the army commanders in Kosovo. Also the others, but especially army commanders – commanders who have engaged in Kosovo. But the national judiciary never reacted.

One of the commanders of the military brigades in Kosovo is today chief of staff of Serbian armed forces, former commander of 37th Brigade, Ljubisa Dikovic, whose members – members of his brigade took part in attacks on Kosovo villages and massive crimes were committed. And after that, they were also involved in transferring bodies from Kosovo to mass graves in Serbia. In Serbia, four sites with mass graves were discovered since 2001, with – nearly 1,000 Albanian civilian bodies were found there.

In one of these mass graves, at a place called Petrovo Selo in eastern Serbia, bodies were discovered – the bodies of American citizens were discovered, ex-members of the Atlantic Brigade of Kosovo Liberation Army, Ylli, Agron and Mehmet Bytyqi, who were arrested in Serbia without arms and without uniforms in their attempt to help Roma family get out of Kosovo. They were arrested and sentenced to two weeks in prison with explanation that they had no proper documents.

After being released, they were again arrested by police, taken to Petrovo Selo, and executed there. In Serbia there was a trial against two policemen – again, low-level policemen who arrested the Bytyqi brothers when they were released from prison and who took them to Petrovo Selo, but those two policemen were acquitted. Despite the evidence that order for the execution came from the top level of the police, no senior police official has ever been charged for this crime.

I am giving this just as an example of when we have a situation that we already know a lot about some particular case, but nothing is final because there is no will to accuse anybody from the top of the structure.

Now we are expecting the first indictments of newly established special court for Kosovo in The Hague. It is a court of Kosovo National Judiciary, before which the crimes members of the KLA committed from 1998/1999, mostly, will be prosecuted. After the ICTY trials that brought limited satisfaction to KLA victims, that court represents a new chance for justice – but also brings a fear, especially for us here, that its work will be presented in Serbia as a proof that

crimes in Kosovo were committed primarily against Serbs, which is not the case, and that there is no need for further trials in Belgrade, which are still a problem.

As part of the accession negotiation, the European Union recognized the problem of war crimes trials as an important issue under Chapter 23 relating to justice and the rule of law, and we are of course satisfied with that. The adopted action plan for Chapter 23, a national war crimes prosecutor strategy, foresees a number of concrete steps that Serbia must take in order to improve war crimes prosecution. But nearly two years since their adoption, the action plan and the strategy remain dead letters. Literally, nothing is going on and nothing is – more or less, nothing is applied.

In the meantime, suspected war criminals remain in public office, and what is particularly worrying is that convicted war criminals are returning to public life. They are trying to be installed as new moral authorities of this society, and not only in Serbia, unfortunately.

The most recent example is the appointment of General Vladimir Lazarevic, general of the army of Yugoslavia. He was present in Kosovo. He served a 14-year sentence before ICTY for crimes in Kosovo, and now he became a lecturer at the military academy. And after that we have promotion of Nikola Sainovic, sentenced in the same case for the crimes against Kosovo Albanians. So he is promoted to the presidency of one of the ruling parties, Socialist Party of Serbia. And these are not the only examples. I can go further in details.

At the same time, Serbian President Aleksandar Vucic gives conciliatory statements, while ministers and media loyal to him keep sending messages that Serbia does not accept responsibility for the policy that led to the gravest crimes on European soil since world war. So we have always that situation that we have conciliatory statements, usually from the president or some top officials, and then their colleagues from the government, from the parliament, and especially media – which are government-controlled – they go with completely different story.

The result of this hypocrisy being that Serbia's international partners are calm – and we are very unhappy because of that – while at the same time, further conflicts in the region are being fueled with those statements and acts, which are already – which I already mentioned.

That's it for now. Thank you for your attention, and I hope that you could hear me well.

HAND: Thank you very much, Mr. Stjepanovic. Your message was heard very clearly, both through the technology, but also substantively. So I thank you for your remarks.

Let me turn to Representative Eliot Engel of New York who has joined us – the ranking Democrat on the House Foreign Affairs Committee and the co-chair of the Albanian Issues Caucus in the House of Representatives.

Mr. Engel?

ENGEL: Well, thank you – thanks very much. And I thank the speaker who we just heard – the very important message that he sent, so thank you for your testimony. It's important

that the world knows what has gone on and what continues to go on, so it takes a great deal of courage, and so we all salute you for your courage. Thank you so much.

Mr. Chairman, as the ranking member of the House Foreign Affairs Committee and as someone who has followed the Balkans for a long, long time, I want to thank the Tom Lantos Human Rights Commission and the Helsinki Commission for holding today's excellent joint briefing on the state of accountability for atrocities committed during the wars in the western Balkans in the 1990s.

As the International Criminal Tribunal for the former Yugoslavia winds up its work, this is the right time to look back on its successes and failures, and to learn the lessons of its efforts to bring the perpetuators of war crime – perpetrators, sorry – of war crimes to justice. We all know the history, to one extent or another. After the death of Tito, who held the Yugoslav country together – Yugoslavia together for many years, the country began to break up, but unlike the peaceful division of Czechoslovakia, Yugoslavia's dissolution turned into a vicious ethnic bloodletting, the most brutal to occur on the European continent since World War II. The conflicts over Yugoslav succession – conflicts were characterized by widespread, flagrant violations of international humanitarian law, war crimes and crimes against humanity, and IC – ICTY was set up to bring the violators of the worst crimes to justice.

I'd like to commend the Helsinki Commission and the Lantos Commission for working together on this joint briefing to assess the tribunal's work, but Mr. Chairman, even as ICTY closes down, I fear that the need for justice in the former Yugoslavia has not diminished, and I would like to highlight two particularly horrific cases in Serbia.

While there has indeed been progress toward democracy in Serbia, I believe it has been held back by a continual unwillingness to deal with crimes committed during the 1999 Kosovo War. First, let's recall the fate of the Bytyqi brothers, three American citizens, who were murdered after they were arrested by Serbian police while trying to help their neighbors, a Roma family, return home.

Serbia's President Vucic promised Vice President Biden, and personally promised me, to bring the criminals to justice and said it would happen very soon. That was a long time ago, and it has not yet occurred despite widespread understanding of who was behind the crimes.

Before continuing, I would like to highlight the very important work of the Belgrade-based Humanitarian Law Center, which forms the basis of what I am about to recount. I thank you, representative, again for being with us here today from Belgrade.

On January 31st of this year, the Humanitarian Law Center released a dossier called "The cover-up of evidence of crimes during the war in Kosovo: The Concealment of Bodies Operation." This report describes mass graves in Serbia containing the bodies of 941 Kosovo Albanians, maybe civilians, killed outside combat situations in Kosovo during 1999. According to the report, and I quote it, "the evidence corroborated the decision to conceal evidence of crimes committed was planned as early as March 1999 at the highest level of the government and indicated that members of both departments of the Serbian NUP, which is the state security

department and public security department, and the Yugoslav army's departments in charge of, quote 'clearing up the terrain,' were involved in it. The murder and mass burial of almost 1,000 innocent civilians is a grave crime against humanity, but the perpetrators have not only gone unpunished, they have not even been pursued."

Mr. Chairman, it is long past time for Belgrade to face the facts of injustice – to bring to justice the people, including high officials in its very government, who are behind these very serious crimes. At the same time, the Serbian unwillingness to achieve justice has brought no adjustment in policy to the United States, and the European Union's willingness to proceed with Serbia's accession process to the EU has been unaffected. This has to stop. It has to stop now.

Until Serbia brings those who have committed these serious crimes to justice, the EU should not move ahead with Belgrade's accession process, and the United States should think twice before advancing our relations with Serbia.

Mr. Chairman, I asked Secretary of State Tillerson and Deputy Secretary Sullivan what they were going to do about this mass murder and cover-up. In its response to me, the State Department expressed the beliefs, and I quote, "that those guilty of moving the bodies of Albanian civilians from Kosovo to clandestine mass graves in Serbia to conceal evidence of earlier massacres should be brought to justice," unquote. The Department has, quote, "brought the report by the Humanitarian Law Center to the attention of Serbia's newly appointed war crimes prosecutor," unquote.

I thank the State Department for raising the issue with Serbia's war crimes prosecutor. This is an important step forward and, in the days ahead, I look forward to an update from the department and will pay close attention to whether Belgrade finally brings to justice those who committed these horrific crimes.

So again, thank you to the commissions for this briefing and for your willingness to tackle these difficult issues. Thank you so much.

HAND: Thank you very much, Mr. Engel, for all the work you have done on – regarding Kosovo, and the Balkans and Serbia over the years. I think your advocacy of justice in Serbia is not only in the interest of the other countries in the region, but also in Serbia's own interest to pursue, and so it's much appreciated.

ENGEL: I really agree. This is not anti-Serbian by any stretch of the imagination.

HAND: Right.

ENGEL: It's something that I believe is the best thing for the Serbian people. If they want to become part of the EU and part of Europe, then this is a good thing for them, but they need to confront, they need to come to grips, they need to admit what happened.

HAND: Yes, I fully agree.

And I would also note that House Concurrent Resolution 20, regarding the murder of the Bytyqi brothers has also been made available here at this briefing, and we have a member of the Bytyqi family here. Ilir is present with us today.

ENGEL: If I might, Mr. Chairman, highlight what I already said before, I had a personal meeting with Mr. Vucic who promised me that this would be resolved within a month. That was probably about a year ago.

HAND: Yes. Well, I was present when he made promises at the Johns Hopkins University as well, and we have yet to see actions. Hopefully we can address that in more detail during the question and answer period.

Now, if I could, I'd like to turn to our last panelist before going to the question and answer period, Professor Diane Orentlicher, for her statement.

Professor?

ORENTILICHER: Thank you. Honorable Member and Chair, thank you so much for inviting me to participate in this briefing, and more important, for convening it. The excellent presentations of other panelists enable me to be brief.

I want to just strongly endorse what others have said about the crucial role that American sustained attention to the issues we're addressing here has made. Its – today sustained American engagement remains, in some ways, more important than ever for reasons that have already been highlighted.

I was asked to speak about what the ICTY has accomplished as it prepares to close later this month after operating for 24 years, as well as what remains to be done. I've just finished a book that explores these questions with a focus on the two countries that have, in many ways, been most affected by its work, which is Serbia and Bosnia-Herzegovina. So I'm going to address the tribunal's legacy in those two countries.

Being guided by the priorities of those who supported the tribunal in those two countries, my remarks focus on the three expectations that were most important to them as they embraced the creation of the ICTY. So let me begin with what I consider the most important priority of victims in particular, and that is quite simply but profoundly importantly, justice – what some call justice for its own sake.

Over the course of many, many interviews with many Bosnians over a long period, I repeatedly heard how many survivors of atrocities desperately needed justice. They were acutely aware that no measure of justice could redeem their loss, but they craved the moral satisfaction that they believed the ICTY alone could provide. So how well did the tribunal do in meeting that particularly?

First let me say the hard part before I get to the really important overall message. It's impossible to talk to victims in Bosnia without hearing a litany of criticisms about discrete

aspects of the ICTY's performance. Among them, sentences are too short, trials take too long; certain suspects who represented themselves, notably Slobodan Milosevic and Vojislav Seselj, turned the courtroom into what often seemed like a theater of the absurd; a series of controversial acquittals, starting in November 2012, shook victims' confidence in the tribunal.

It's often said that survivors of mass atrocities are never satisfied with the quality of justice, so it's important to recognize that many experts have echoed their concerns, and I believe that the prosecutor himself has often voiced the same concerns of survivors. To its credit, the ICTY undertook some important course corrections in recent years, and those have been important. Going forward, with respect to other tribunals with which we are engaged, I think it's really important for us to keep sight of the sort of mundane aspects of the delivery of justice that make all the difference to victims.

Now the big picture: in light of all of the criticisms I hear whenever I travel to the region – of discrete aspects of the ICTY's performance - it's been astonishing to see that survivors remain overwhelming happy that the ICTY was created. In the words of one actually very frequent critic from Bosnia, despite concerns about aspects of its performance, the ICTY is, quote, "the best thing that's happened to the former Yugoslavia since 1991, when it began to implode."

Last month's historic verdict in the case of Ratko Mladic was a real capstone for many victims. I'd like to quote the words of just one, which I think capture what the verdict meant to so many Bosnians. The day the verdict was announced, Mirsada Malagic, who lost her husband, two sons, and other relatives during the war, and who testified in Mladic's trial, responded this way when she was asked what difference the tribunal had made in the lives of survivors. What she said is, quote, "it's good that the Hague tribunal exists. The killing of so many people has been proven. They were sentenced just enough for us to get some peace in our souls."

And again, her response to the question really captured what I've heard so often from survivors. They got justice and that meant everything.

Beyond the importance of what many in the region call justice for its own sake in interviews that I did for my study, many Bosnians and Serbians hoped that, by judicially authenticating the fundamental facts of ethnic cleansing, the tribunal would dispel pervasive denial about those crimes, and more affirmatively, advance a wide-ranging process of acknowledgment.

As previous speakers have highlighted, those hopes have been frustrated. Nationalist discourses are on the rise with toxic effect in both Bosnia and Serbia. Strident challenges – strident nationalist discourses include – again this has been mentioned – challenges to fundamental facts and findings of the ICTY. And – again, as other have mentioned but it bears repeating – those convicted by the ICTY have been welcomed home, time and again, as heroes, and elevated, as Mr. Stjepanovic mentioned.

So what are the takeaways from that? I'd like to briefly mention four. There's a lot to be said about this, but I'm going to be brief. First, I think one takeaway is that the experience in the

region reminds us that we have to be careful, going forward with other mechanisms of international justice, not to raise unrealistic expectations about what they can achieve.

One of my Bosnian interlocutors noted, quote, "disillusionment with the Hague tribunal was not just a problem of the Hague tribunal. It was also the problem of how we understood what it was going to do for us. Courts do not set political reality, right?" I think there is a lot of wisdom in her observation.

Second, I would nonetheless challenge the claim that the ICTY did not have an impact on acknowledgment. Importantly, public opinion surveys in both Bosnia and Serbia reflected rising levels of acknowledgment of wartime atrocities in roughly the first six years of this century. Bosnians and Serbians whom I've interviewed, including quite a few people who administered these surveys, are convinced that the ICTY played a huge role in that progress during that period. They saw this increasing level of acknowledgment as a direct dividend of Hague justice.

And so, again, I want to emphasize that, while we shouldn't raise expectations that are difficult to meet, we should also recognize that The Hague tribunal has made a difference and can make a difference under auspicious circumstances.

Which leads me to the next point. A tribunal, like the ICTY, and specifically the ICTY, can make a profound difference, even in these tough issues like acknowledgment, when local political circumstances are relatively auspicious. So in Serbia we saw progress in dispelling denial about Srebrenica, for example, during the years in which reformists were – held leadership positions in Serbia. Similarly – or somewhat similarly, we saw a high point in Bosnian-Serb acknowledgment of Srebrenica in the same period when there was robust engagement by the international community in Bosnia.

The last point I want to make about this is that – and it follows from my previous point – the international community can and, in my view, must remain profoundly engaged in addressing the toxic political developments in Bosnia in particular, but in the region more widely if we really want to see the full realization of the legacy of the international tribunal. It's no coincidence that there has been a surge in denialism in Bosnia precisely during the period when we've seen a retreat of robust international engagement.

Turning to the final area of impact that I want to touch upon, as other speakers have noted, one of the most tangible and hopefully enduring legacies of the ICTY was in spurring the development of local war crimes prosecutions. In Bosnia, the ICTY played a concerted role in launching domestic war crimes institutions, working with the Office of the High Representative as well as local Bosnian lawyers, whose contribution is often overlooked, to create these institutions. It didn't play the same deliberate role in Serbia. Nonetheless and therefore notably, the ICTY played a key role in catalyzing the development of Serbia's war crimes institutions in 2003.

That's a fascinating story in itself. I'm going to just quote one former Serbian official about his conception of the role the ICTY played. What he told me was that the ICTY, through its existence and work, enabled the reformists and the coalition government in Serbia – the first

post-Milosevic government in Serbia – to realize their own aspirations to ensure accountability. They were operating in a deeply constrained and contested political space, and the ICTY, through its work, widened that space, enabling them to play a key role in addressing the legacy of Serbian violence itself.

I want to pay tribute to Mr. Brammertz because, under his leadership, the ICTY office of the prosecutor seized the opportunity that emerged when these institutions were created. His office has, as he mentioned, developed a number of really innovative programs to bolster the capacity of the ICTY's partners in the region.

As I've mentioned in my book, I think those initiatives are a model for all international criminal tribunals, and I hope that they receive more attention. Yet, as others have noted, particularly Mr. Stjepanovic, those institutions are fragile, and in recent years have seen some backsliding in their important achievements. What has been clear throughout their life is that sustained international engagement has made a critical difference in addressing political pressures that have threatened, sometimes very seriously, their independence and their continued viability. As the ICTY closes, it's going to be more challenging to sustain that engagement but more important than ever precisely for that reason.

In closing, I want to note that the ICTY's legacy will extend far beyond its formal lifetime, and the tribunal can continue to have a profound impact if we nurture the seeds that it has planted. We know it took decades for Germany to embrace Nuremburg. Yet, as we also know, Germany eventually became what some have called a model penitent in relation to its painful past.

If the ICTY is to have its own salutary, long-term impact in Bosnia and Serbia, it won't happen without our sustained support and so, for that reason, I'm grateful for the two commissions that convened this hearing, for their leadership in constantly marshaling the attention of the U.S. government when it has been necessary to do so.

Thank you.

HAND: OK. Thank you very much.

Now that we've heard from all of our panelists, we'll turn to a question and answer period. We have two microphones on either side of the room. If people could come up and, again, identify themselves, indicate if you want to address a specific one of the panelists or just ask the entire panel a question, and then make a brief comment and ask your question, and then we'll hear the answer to it.

So if you're interested, we'll start with Ilir, if you'd like to go up to the microphone. And then others, start thinking of your questions. And if you want to come up, feel free to do so.

Q: Thank you, chairman, panel, Tom Lantos, and the Helsinki Commission for this opportunity. My name is Ilir Bytyqi.

I have three brothers, Ylli, Agron and Mehmet, all American citizens who were kidnapped and murdered in 1990s by the Soviet government officials. Soviet President Vukcevic has promised numerous times to bring justice to this case, to us and the Vice President Joe Biden, to resolve the issues when he's here or meeting with – talking with western Balkans. He knows exactly what to tell them. When he's back in Serbia, he tells a different story. He refuses to – he refuses to prosecute high ranking officials and suspects, and tells the Serbia media that we are kicking him in the head and insulting Serbia. What powers does the MICT have when a national government refuses to prosecute war criminals? What can the U.S. and the European government do in such cases? Thank you.

HAND: Thank you. I think we would first go to the chief prosecutor and see if he would to comment specifically on what the mechanism – MICT - might be able to do. But then we may also want to hear some comments from Belgrade, from Mr. Stjepanovic, in terms of how he sees the case and the government's reaction to it.

So, Mr. Brammertz?

BRAMMERTZ: Sure. It's more difficult to me to comment on the specific case. As I understand, the case is hopefully ongoing with the Serbian judiciary. But of course, what you experience and what the member of Congress explained, about the assurances getting – well, I'm a very similar situation, because I'm meet with the Serbian president also every six months in relation to a number of open issues which are directly linked to our mandate. And it is true that it takes often a lot of time for issues to be resolved. And a number of the issues we have raised are still open, including in relation to the execution of arrest warrant of the tribunal in Belgrade, including in relation to the execution of sentences of courts from Bosnia-Herzegovina, which are not executed as they should be in Serbia.

So the specific situation you are mentioning, I think we all agree is that it remains in Serbia very, very difficult to have cases conducted in relation to mid-level or higher-level perpetrators. The few cases we have seen are all in relation to the physical perpetrators with relatively clear evidence. But if it's about a hierarchy or superiors, we see that this remains a big problem in Serbia, as it is a problem in the other countries. So this is very much one of our conclusions, that there has been some progress in relation to prosecutions of physical perpetrators, but in the entire region the moment it concerns someone who has a more political profile, then the investigations are not moving forward. So, in this sense, I see the problem.

Now, what can the MICT do? So the MICT is a mechanism, an international community tribunal, which is the successor of the organization of the ICTY. And we are receiving a lot of requests. And a lot of organizations are sharing concerns with us. The nongovernmental organizations in the region, of course, many members of the diplomatic community, but even those prosecutors in the different countries who are really willing to move forward are saying, well, we still need a partner in The Hague to continue working on those cases.

So while the name ICTY will not be there anymore, the mandate of the MICT is very, very similar. We cannot do new investigations or new trials. But in terms of supporting national prosecutions, it's exactly the same, continuing to organize access to our databases, having liaison

prosecutors in The Hague. So what we are – you know, I had yesterday an all-day meeting at the State Department to see how the U.S. government can continue supporting the MICT to make sure that you are relevant. We are having similar meetings in Brussels with the European Union because, as it was mentioned by Mr. Engel, well, the EU enlargement process is still an important tool to create incentives, if not to say stick and carrot policy, to make sure that things are changing.

So I know I'm not giving an answer to the situation of your family. This is, of course, a case which is very well-known, which is very symptomatic for, unfortunately, a number of situations where people have just been killed, bodies disposed of, and where investigations are not done very often the way they should be done. And sometimes, with trials taking place where we receive the comments from civil society saying: Well, this is everything but a correct trial, and not a decision supported by the evidence.

So it remains very, very fragile. But as I said, the MICT for a number of years to come continues the work of the ICTY. We still have one trial ongoing, Stanisic-Simatovic. Important trial, Stanisic having been the head of the Serbian intelligence service. We have the appeals proceedings, Karadzic/Mladic. And we will continue doing capacity building and training and support. It was mentioned the new war crimes prosecutor in Belgrade. She's taking a tough job. It's not very popular to be in this kind of jobs.

And just again, as an example, the predecessor, Vukcevic, during which time much more people have been prosecuted, and during which time cooperating was reaching much better, he, after retiring from office as a state official, he asked to become member of the bar, and he was refused by the bar association with the argument that he would not be worth joining the bar association because all his life he has prosecuted Serbs for crimes committed. And so just to say that it remains a big problem in the different countries of the former Yugoslavia, but definitely in Serbia, but also in Croatia. That those prosecutors who are trying to do their job are very often not supported by the political leadership, which remains a problem a for many years to come.

HAND: Thank you. Mr. Stjepanovic, do you want to comment specifically on the Bytyqi case from your perspective, in terms of President Vucic and the Serbian government's response, promises, and then criticisms of those who are reminding them of those promises and responses?

STJEPANOVIC: Yeah. Well, I can say that these promises usually come together with visits of U.S. officials. So usually we hear the promises during or after that time, and then after that they remain quiet.

The Bytyqi brothers' case is actually part of broken problem, as I already tried to explain. We can't solve Bytyqi brothers without decision to go with accusing of high officials from the – from the police, in this case. During the trial, we heard that an order for the killing of the Bytyqi brothers came from the top of the police, from the ministry of – at that time, Minister of Interior Vlajko Stojiljkovic, who committed suicide before he came to ICTY.

So that means that if order came from the top, that order couldn't be delivered to direct perpetrators who were only – who were accused, and yet acquitted. And the reason why they were acquitted is also – I believe it is also – that the reason is that you can't convict in that case only two persons who are low level, because of fear that they can say what actually happened and who gave the order, et cetera. So that is the – that is the problem in that case. We have a – we have a situation that what did they – and we believe that if they want to go deeper in that case, they will do so.

We heard about – and I'm really proud that that dossier was mentioned. I am the author of that dossier about moving the bodies from Kosovo to Serbia. We, as an NGO, identified – of course, thanks to documents and evidence from ICTY, but we identified by name 110 of persons of predominantly ground police who involved in that operation. And can you imagine what the prosecutor's officer can do on ground police? And I will – and I will remind you that three out of four mass graves in Serbia were found after only, let's say, one month investigation in 2001. After that, nothing or almost nothing happened, especially no initiative – we didn't see initiative from Serbia.

So, if we speak about that, we speak about a lack of will, and that's all. And we have impression that the international partners have been failing to clearly communicate in recent times – and I would say in recent years – clearly to communicate with Serbia that the stalling of war crimes prosecuting and also widespread denial of court-established facts are unacceptable. So we don't – I mean, maybe it's our impression because we, as civil society, always wants more, but we don't see that will also from international partners.

So I will conclude. If we speak about the Bytyqi brothers, nothing is – we don't see that something is going on. And we believe that that is – that is because there is no will to prosecute high-ranking officials from police.

HAND: OK. Thank you very much. It sounds like we still have our work cut out for us.

If I could ask a question: The international tribunal has ruled unequivocally that the massacre at Srebrenica constituted a genocide. But it has not supported the contention that other atrocities, either alone or collectively, constituted the crime of genocide.

Mr. Prosecutor, you noted in your remarks after the Mladic verdict that while the court acknowledged the crimes committed in six municipalities, I believe it was, but they did not convict Mladic for those crimes on the genocide charge. You indicated your office would review the court's reasoning. And I was wondering if you could elaborate on that issue.

And, Professor Orentlicher, you were asked the same question 10 years ago at a Helsinki Commission hearing in 2007. And I think your answer was one of the best take-aways from that hearing. You first indicated that convicting for genocide is difficult because of the need to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the crimes were committed, but also with the specific intent to destroy a group, in whole or in part.

You went on to use several words to describe how truly enormous and terrible crimes against humanity are. And you urged people as well not to devalue crimes against humanity, and their horrendous nature, because of the existence of genocide as a separate charge. I think that's important because I've seen some people criticize the tribunal decision. Even though they convicted Mladic on 10 of the 11 counts, and he got a life sentence, that they did not say that genocide was committed in these areas, other than Srebrenica.

So I was wondering if you could comment on that again as well, but perhaps after Dr. Brammertz first gives us an update based on his own reaction to the Mladic verdict.

BRAMMERTZ: Sure. I have to explain the genocide charges in a little bit more broader way. We have as office of the prosecutor, since the beginning, defended the hypothesis that there was not only genocidal intent in Srebrenica, and where we have been followed by the judges in a number of cases, but we were of the opinion that genocidal intent to destroy part of society – entirely a part of society for very specific reasons, that this intent was also present in a number of municipalities where massive killings have taken place.

The judges did not follow our thesis, our approach, at least not for the municipalities. Somehow, with the explanation that, well, as the number of persons who have been forcefully displaced is much higher than the numbers of people which have been killed, well, there was not a clear evidence about this genocidal intent. As I said, we disagreed from the beginning with this approach, and have always kept in our indictment genocide charges for the different municipalities. And in Karadzic and in other cases before, we never got a conviction in relation to those charges.

The Mladic judgement is a little bit different in the sense that while Mladic was also not convicted for genocide in the municipalities, for the first time – and it's the first time the judges confirmed that in a number of municipalities a number of physical perpetrators had a genocidal intention, but are not linking this genocidal intent up the chain of command to Mladic. It's an issue we are carefully looking at, because it is not necessarily for us absolute logic to have on one hand a genocidal intent accepted in relation to a number of officers, but not with Mladic. But, again, we are still really carefully doing our analysis to see what kind of remedy we will – we will use.

But I will leave it to Professor Orentlicher, indeed, to explain, again, that, you know, crimes against humanity, war crimes, are as grave crimes as genocide is. And we, of course, have always seen that people try to – also victims, to create a kind of hierarchy among crimes. And we're in the press conference after Mladic. I insisted very much to say that, well, the crimes for which he was not convicted, for genocide, exactly for the same crimes he was convicted for murder, for persecution, as crimes against humanity, which were very important convictions leading to the life sentence as well.

ORENTLICHER: Thank you. I would – I would just add that – you know, obviously, I still believe what you quoted me saying 10 years ago, but I believe it even more so. I think it's unfortunate that we forget that in the most symbolically resonate verdict for many of us historically – which is the judgement of Nuremburg – the surviving Nazi leaders were convicted

of crimes against humanity. They were convicted of crimes against humanity, not genocide. And so I think we have to work harder to reinvest that conviction with the moral power that it had at Nuremberg, and not disparage the verdict. It should come as – provide great moral satisfaction to victims that Mladic was convicted of crimes against humanity.

There is a paradox that I don't think we know yet how to handle, which is that the person who campaigned for the genocide convention and coined the term, Raphael Lemkin, succeeded in investing genocide with a very unique stigma. And that's been useful. It has helped mobilize action. I remember, as the conflict in Kosovo geared up, I got a lot of calls from Congress asking me if what was happening in Kosovo met the definition of genocide. And I kept on making the case that the point of – a key point of the genocide convention is to persuade states to take action to prevent it from happening. So you don't need moral certainty or legal certainty that genocide has been committed in order for the convention to be relevant.

And indeed, it was mobilizing, I think, for many members of Congress to know that there was a risk of genocide. So that's one side of the paradox. The other side is that unfortunately, precisely because it does have that stigma, many victims feel that their own suffering was somewhat devalued, when it really shouldn't be.

HAND: Yeah, and, again, I think that's why it's important to stress this point now, to let them know that we do not devalue what had happened to the victims. And I can recall vividly, referring to what you had said about the genocide convention and the commitment of the parties to the convention to do something to prevent genocide, about the many congressional hearings we had, including some that were titled "Genocide in Bosnia-Herzegovina," trying to convince members of the executive branch to concede that genocide was taking place or about to take place.

And they resisted, because what it meant is they needed to do something in response to try to stop it. And I think the biggest fear I had coming away from the whole Balkans experience is that you don't have the political will to do something to stop genocide until it has already occurred. And that's where, I think, the definition really comes into play, that you don't want it to be that way. You want it to try to generate the political will, to try to stop it.

Let me, again, turn to the audience. I don't see anybody in our – well, there's one person, over here. Do you want to introduce yourself and then ask your question?

Q: I'm Erika Schlager with the Helsinki Commission staff.

And I'd like to start out by thanking our speakers here today in Washington, as well as across the Atlantic, for participating in this – in this briefing. My question is about the impact of the tribunal on Roma. Before the conflict in Yugoslavia, before the wars, Yugoslavia had perhaps the largest Romani minority of any country in Europe. Roma were victims of every aspect of this conflict – victims of the genocide, they were among the first who felt the consequences of this ethnically driven – or framed war, war crimes, crimes against humanity. But also for survivors, incredible legacy of continuing displacement and loss of citizenship.

So mindful of how many decades it has taken to get recognition of the genocide Roma experienced under German National Socialism, has the tribunal been able to play a role in either legal accountability for the crimes that were committed against Roma, for Roma as victims, and/or play a role in building a record that will help people understand the consequences of this conflict on Roma, that are experienced by Romani survivors who are now displaced all over Europe? Thank you.

BRAMMERTZ: Well, in a number of cases we have, of course, important number of victims from the Roma community. And among the main victims there are many. Now, would there be a study or a reflection on the impact of the cases on the Roma community? Unfortunately, I would say no. Of course, it's studied much more from a sociological perspective to see what the situation is. You know, we have in terms of victims of crimes, for example, by Bosnian Serbs, perpetrators, who would always call the victims "the non-Serb community," just also to avoid making every time the differences between the different communities. But it is a sort of fact that an important number of members of the Roma community have been victims of those different crimes. But, again, I see absolutely your point in terms of impact.

We see the impact is much more visible, of course, in relation to the other communities where it was, of course, very clearly – if we take Srebrenica, which is, of course, always the most symptomatically, the number of Bosnians living in Srebrenica before the war, and the political situation now afterwards. So there you can very, very easily see, in terms of ethnic cleansing, the impact on specific communities in relation to the war.

But you have an important point. This is much less visible in relation to the Roma community, which by definition is much less located to a very specific place.

HAND: Would either of the other panelists want to say anything? Mr. Stjepanovic? No? OK.

OK. Over here we have a question.

Q: Thank you, sir. My name is Martina Hrvolova, and I manage the Balkan section at the Center for International Private Enterprise.

Thank you for the presentations to all the speakers. I'd like to ask prosecutor Brammertz a bit broader question. Could you please kindly share your vision of international criminal justice for us? Are you concerned? And what are the key challenges in international criminal justice for the coming years?

And then, Professor, if you could elaborate; I don't know if you had a chance to look at this, but what is the level of awareness of the importance of prosecution of criminal – of war crimes outside of those countries that were affected? Thank you.

BRAMMERTZ: Well, for the broader picture, I don't want to be too negative, but the fact is that today we have the highest number of ongoing conflicts since World War II, the

highest number of internally displaced persons and refugees. We have conflicts where civilians are the major victims – where historically, you know, conflict was very much between armed forces, nowadays the main victims. Then, of course, we have the modern forms of conflict in relation to ISIS, terrorism in general. And if we look at accountability, well, the reality is that for the majority of victims for all those conflicts, accountability will be the exception and not the rule.

You know, I worked two years in Lebanon as head of the investigation commission after the assassination of Rafik Hariri. So I know quite well the Middle East as well. If you look at the Middle East today, total chaos. If you look at the Syria situation, more than 400,000 victims, already three times more than in the wars in Bosnia-Herzegovina; conflict ongoing for four or five years, and no perspective of any tribunal or anything of this nature.

So it is the unfortunate reality that where – when the ICTY was created, you had a consensus in the international community to create an accountability mechanism. This consensus is not there today. We're not entering to the politics, but it is obvious that international community is not speaking with one voice.

If you look at, you know, Yemen, Syria and others, well, there are now for Syria an investigation commission has been put in place, but collecting information, looking into information, transferring it to the competent authorities, but not with their own judicial authority. You had until a few weeks ago so-called JIM. This was also a body put in place by Security Council in relation to the use of chemical weapons in Syria. Well, this mechanism was closed two weeks ago, but there were some critical voices in the Security Council.

So the picture is not great. But again, it's not a reason not to continue fighting for it, pushing for it. We have shown, I think, that with the international – with the tribunal for the former Yugoslavia that time plays in our favor. You know, we all know this expression, justice delayed is justice denied. Well, at the international level, someone who is well protected today and cannot be prosecuted, this can change five years later, 10 years later.

And the main challenge today is to make sure that you collect evidence as soon as possible. You asked about challenges. I would say that's the biggest challenge today. We have seen in the former Yugoslavia if – for Srebrenica, for example, you know, we all remember that the genocide in Srebrenica happened after the creation of the tribunal. So we always speak about deterrence. Well, the creation of the tribunal has no deterrence impact.

But the massacres – the genocide took place after the creation of the tribunal, but it still took one year for the first investigator of the tribunal to be on the ground in Srebrenica. And in the meantime, Bosnian Serbs have moved thousands of bodies from the primary mass graves to hundreds of secondary graves, where still today bodies are found.

So while we are today back in a situation where we have accountability mechanism for a number of conflicts, one would at least hope that, in securing evidence, some progress is made, just to avoid that in 20 years, if there is a tribunal for Syria, colleagues will be again in the same situation, looking for evidence and having difficulties to find it.

So political consensus is absent today in terms of accountability. That's the biggest problem. And then, from a practical perspective, if you are not able to secure evidence as soon as possible, prosecutors later in court will have big, big difficulties to convince judges about individual responsibility.

HAND: Professor?

ORENTLICHER: Well, of course, I agree with everything the prosecutor just said about the – changing the political environment. It's striking to me that it took, I think, 18 years from the day the ICTY was created until the day the final fugitive was arrested. So it was an uphill struggle, to say the least. And yet it answered all of its indictments because there was almost a singular international commitment to the ICTY.

So you faced challenges. You had to constantly remind governments of their responsibilities. And yet you have one of the strongest and most concerted commitments that the international tribunal has enjoyed over a sustained period. Obviously, the International Criminal Court struggles to garner that kind of support to apprehend many of those that it's – against whom it's issued arrest warrants.

That said, I think two things are true. One is that we keep seeing that there's a very strong demand for justice in many countries where I wouldn't frankly expect it, where we see victims who are struggling to survive on a daily basis. They're still trying to collect evidence and provide a foundation for accountability in the future. And I think that's going to continue to be a factor in the future emergence of mechanisms of accountability in places where it doesn't now seem likely that it will happen.

I also think we need to educate the public and diplomats more about what international justice has achieved in ways that are not always visible. For example – and I'll be brief here – we talked earlier about the rise of nationalist rhetoric, which is indeed extremely worrying. And we should mobilize very hard to address that phenomenon.

It's often, I think, easy to sort of say, OK, so the international justice didn't work. It didn't dispel denial. That's not, as I said earlier, a fallout of international justice. It's a symptom of a much deeper problem in post-conflict countries where we're seeing this resurgence of nationalism.

What we don't see – as I said, that part is visible and it's easy to see. What we don't see so much is the many occasions in which the work of the ICTY strengthened reformists, removed political spoilers from the scene during critical and fragile moments of transition. Many Serbians have talked to me about the importance to their transition. But Milosevic was physically removed from Serbia. And many Serbians have talked to me about the specter of what their transition would have been like if the ICTY had not removed some of those spoilers from their scene.

So I think we need to learn more about the ways in which tribunals have been and potentially can be helpful, because I think we know all too well the ways in which countries continue to struggle in the aftermath of conflict even when there's international justice. That other story needs to be told more.

HAND: OK, thank you.

I think we have what will probably be the last question for our briefing.

Q: Hi. Thank you very much. My name is Praveen Madhiraju, and I'm the executive director at Pretrial Rights International and also pro bono counsel to the Bytyqi family.

I essentially have a peace-versus-justice question, which I think the professor addressed a little bit just now. But in Washington, in the NGO community there has been a recent effort to get the U.S. reengaged in the Western Balkans, and I think primarily from a security perspective. And by that I think the effort was preventing a return to war and the ascendance of Russia in the region.

I'm wondering if you have thoughts on the role of transitional justice in security – for the future security of the Western Balkans, and also things that the United States can do, the government can do, to advance those causes.

HAND: OK. Thank you.

I think that Praveen was referring especially to a recent Atlantic Council report that was released about U.S. policy towards the Balkans and trying to generate greater interest by Washington in the region. It's an excellent report. It's very comprehensive. But it does also beg the question of the role that transitional justice plays in U.S. policy and U.S. strategy, as well as that of the European Union and our other partners that work together in trying to integrate the Balkans into Europe and make a more stable, peaceful and prosperous place.

BRAMMERTZ: Well, you're asking what the U.S. can do. And I think it is crystal clear. And my experience, after being 10 years in this job, the fact is that changes will not happen because the political leadership thinks that it's now the right time for reconciliation to move forward all together.

Without incentives from outside, without giving the crystal-clear message that there's no alternative to the accountability, I think we will not see progress. It's very much the message I'm also giving in Brussels when I meet with members of the European Commission or the EU commissioner for enlargement, to say very, very clearly, well, the unfortunate reality is that people will do the minimum necessary to please the international community and not the maximum possible, where we would all hope that responsive politicians would, in the interest of their people and in the interest of a joint future, do the right things. This is not the case.

So government support from the U.S. is extremely important. As I said, it was instrumental to set up the tribunal. It was instrumental in getting the different fugitives arrested.

But at a period where the region is going backwards, it is again as important as it was in the early days.

Now, transitional justice, well, this will remain a very long process. I said it earlier. In Bosnia-Herzegovina alone, there are more than 3,000 cases which still need to be conducted, more than 350 in relation to midlevel or senior-level individuals. There is very little appetite and readiness in the region to cooperate, because many of the physical perpetrators of crimes committed in Bosnia-Herzegovina are in Serbia or in Croatia. But those countries are not extraditing their own nationals, so in theory they should take over in the context of the provision of justice. They should take over those cases.

But how do you want a prosecutor to do a good job if he hears in the media the head of state or the president of Republika Srpska or whomever saying, well, all those are heroes? How do you want an investigator, a junior investigator or a junior prosecutor, to do serious work on war crimes investigations if you have, like, General Lazarevic, as it was mentioned, a general who was convicted because of grave violations of the Geneva Conventions, who is then teaching at a military academy?

So as long as the political leadership is not showing strong support for war-crimes investigations, I'm very much afraid that we will see little progress. And this transitional justice will continue, I'm afraid, for a long time. There will be new war-crimes strategies to be put in place in Bosnia very soon. In Serbia it still needs to be implemented. But I don't want to finish, because I understand there will be also a record, and what we are saying will be in the public domain.

I, at the same time, want to say I don't want to be only critical towards my colleagues in the region, because I see the role of the MICT to really support prosecutors in Bosnia-Herzegovina, in Serbia and in Croatia to do their job by helping them in getting evidence, moving their cases forward, and making sure that they have knowledge in order to address those cases.

HAND: OK, thank you.

We are running out of time, and so we need to bring the briefing to a close. If either Mr. Stjepanovic or Professor Orentlicher, do you have any last comment on that last question or anything else before we close? But please keep it short if you do.

STJEPANOVIC: I would like to add one sentence, if I may. When we speak about impunity, about accountability, about work of ICTY, I can imagine a situation in which, if ICTY was never established, that we would have Radovan Karadzic as the president of Republika Srpska and Jadranko Prlić as the leader of the Bosnian Croats today, because everything what we've seen that is happening now can show us what would have happened if ICTY was never established, with, of course, all criticism which we can address to that institution.

HAND: OK. Thank you very much.

At this point I'll bring the briefing to a close. I think this has been an excellent discussion we've had here. And I do see a fairly positive assessment of the work of the ICTY. As I mentioned to the prosecutor at the beginning, I think the challenge now is that as we look at what the countries themselves will do, we don't have ICTY to set the standard by which we can judge their actions. When somebody was indicted by The Hague, we knew there needed to be that cooperation to arrest and transfer them. We're now not quite sure what needs to be done, et cetera.

We hope that through the mechanism, through the MICT, that we'll continue to hear reports about how the countries are doing. We hope that civil society in Serbia, but also working with the civil societies in all the other countries, will also be putting out their press releases, issuing their reports on how they see their countries are doing, and that people here in Washington and the Congress and our own NGO community will continue to press the United States to continue to push for justice as an integrated part of the solution for stability in the region.

I'd like to thank the Bosnian ambassador for being here today, Ambassador Hrle; and Voice of America for covering our briefing today. And I see other friends out there – Nina Bang-Jensen, who probably should get the most credit for the forceful U.S. effort in support of the tribunal when she was head of the Coalition for International Justice over the years, and particularly for pressing for conditionality on assistance to Serbia until they handed over all atlarge indictees.

And Praveen and Mr. Bytyqi, thank you for being here today and for your good work in reminding us all that there are still these outstanding cases that need to be resolved, and pressing us to do our job in making sure that they get resolved.

At this point this briefing is adjourned. Again, thank you. Have a good day, everybody.

[Whereupon, at 11:52 a.m., the briefing ended.]